

***Constitution of the
Society for Socialist Studies/ Société d'études socialistes***

NAME

The name of the organization shall be the Society for Socialist Studies/Société d'études socialistes (the "Society")

PURPOSE OF THE SOCIETY

- (a) to create, foster, and publish academic and scholarly research and analysis in Canada, with particular emphasis on socialist, feminist, anti-racist and ecological points of view, regarding history, political science, political economy, sociology and other academic subjects;
- (b) to organize conferences, seminars and workshops relating to same, and to publish and distribute material emanating from such conferences, seminars, and workshops;
- (c) to publish educational material, including newsletters, pamphlets, magazines, and books, relating to same; and
- (d) generally dedicate itself to high quality research and the advancement of public education.

PROMOTING OBJECTIVES

The Society shall be carried on without purpose of gain for its members, and any profits or other accretions to the Society shall be used solely to promote its objectives. The substance of this paragraph shall not be repealed or amended.

DISSOLUTION

If the Society dissolves, any property and assets remaining after satisfaction of its debts and liabilities shall be transferred to (a) charitable organization(s) whose principal objective is similar to the purposes of the Society.

Upon dissolution, the financial records, minutes and other important documents of the Society shall be stored at an institution that would make the files accessible to researchers.

BYLAWS of the Society for Socialist Studies/Société d'études socialistes

PART 1 – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions

1.1 In these Bylaws:

“**Society**” means the Society for Socialist Studies/ Société d'études socialistes

“**Executive**” means the directors of the Society;

“**Bylaws**” means these Bylaws as altered from time to time.

Number, Gender and Headings

1.2 Words importing the singular number include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing gender include all genders.

1.3 Headings are inserted for the purposes of convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Constitution.

PART 2 – MEMBERS

Application for membership

2.1 A person may apply to the Executive for membership in the Society, and the person becomes a member on the Executive's acceptance or by members at a General Meeting accepting the applications. The membership year is January 1st to December 31st.

Duties of members

2.2 Every member must uphold the constitution of the Society and must comply with these Bylaws.

Amount of membership dues

2.3 The amount of the annual membership dues, if any, must be determined at the Annual General Meeting.

Member not in good standing

2.4 A member is not in good standing if the member fails to pay the member's annual membership dues, if any, and the member is not in good standing for so long as those dues remain unpaid.

Member not in good standing may not vote

2.5 A voting member who is not in good standing

(a) may not vote at a General Meeting, and

(b) is deemed not to be a voting member for the purpose of consenting to a resolution of the voting members.

(c) may not hold office or be a member of any Society committees.

Termination of membership if member not in good standing

2.6 A person's membership in the Society is terminated if the person is not in good standing for 6 consecutive months.

Local Chapters

2.7 The Society welcomes the formation of chapters to advance its purposes of scholarship and social practice.

(a) Any number of members may form a chapter. The Chapter will be recognized if it includes a minimum of five members, subject to approval of its application by the Executive.

(b) The activities of Chapters shall be compatible with the purpose of the Society for Socialist Studies as described in 2a.

(d) The recognition of Chapters may be withdrawn by the Members at a General Meeting or Executive meeting for activities not conducive to the interests of the Society.

(e) The Society will aid the coordination of Chapter activities, with itself and among them.

PART 3 – GENERAL MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

General Meetings

3.1 Time and Place of General meetings

a) A General Meeting must be held at the time and, if applicable, place the Executive determines.

- b) The Annual General Meeting will be held during the SSS Annual Conference, or if an Annual Conference does not convene, no later than June 30. Meetings will be conducted as a in-person, hybrid of online/in-person or entirely online as circumstances permit or require.
- c) The members gathered at a General Meeting ~~is~~ are the ultimate authority in all matters concerning the activities of the Society for Socialist Studies.

Notice of special business

3.2 A notice of a General Meeting must state the nature of any business, other than ordinary business, to be transacted at the meeting in sufficient detail to permit a member receiving the notice to form a reasoned judgment concerning that business.

Chair of General Meeting

3.4 The following individual is entitled to preside as the chair of a General Meeting:

- (a) the individual, if any, appointed by the Executive to preside as the chair;
- (b) if the Executive has not appointed an individual to preside as the chair or the individual appointed by the Executive is unable to preside as the chair,
 - (i) the president,
 - (ii) the vice-president, if the president is unable to preside as the chair, or
 - (iii) one of the other Executive in attendance at the meeting, if both the president and vice-president are unable to preside as the chair.

Alternate chair of General Meeting

3.5 If there is no individual entitled under these Bylaws who is able to preside as the chair of a General Meeting within 15 minutes from the time set for holding the meeting, the voting members who are in attendance must elect an individual present at the meeting to preside as the chair.

Quorum required

3.6 Business, other than the election of the chair of the meeting and the adjournment or termination of the meeting, must not be transacted at a General Meeting unless a quorum of voting members is in attendance.

Quorum for General Meetings

3.7 The quorum for the transaction of business at a General Meeting is 15 voting members or 10% of the eligible voting members and in good standing, whichever is less.

Lack of quorum at commencement of meeting

- 3.8** If, within 30 minutes from the time set for holding a General Meeting, a quorum of voting members is not in attendance,
- (a) in the case of a meeting convened on the requisition of members, the meeting is terminated, and
 - (b) in any other case, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week, at the same time and, if applicable, place, and if, at the continuation of the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time set for holding the continuation of the adjourned meeting, the voting members who are present constitute a quorum for that meeting.

If quorum ceases to be present

- 3.9** If, at any time during a General Meeting, there ceases to be a quorum of voting members present, business then in progress must be suspended until there is a quorum in attendance or until the meeting is adjourned or terminated.

Adjournments by chair

- 3.10** The chair of a General Meeting may, or, if directed by the voting members at the meeting, must adjourn the meeting from time to time and, if applicable, from place to place, but no business may be transacted at the continuation of the adjourned meeting other than business left unfinished at the adjourned meeting.

Notice of continuation of adjourned General Meeting

- 3.11** Seven days notice to all members for whom the Society has a working email address is required for a continuation of an adjourned General Meeting or of the business to be transacted at a continuation of an adjourned General Meeting, except that two weeks notice of the continuation of the adjourned meeting must be given when a General Meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more.

Order of business at General Meeting

- 3.12** The order of business at a General Meeting is as follows:
- (a) elect an individual to chair the meeting, if necessary;
 - (b) determine that there is a quorum;
 - (c) approve the agenda;
 - (d) approve the minutes from the last General Meeting;
 - (e) deal with unfinished business from the last General Meeting;

- (f) if the meeting is an Annual General Meeting
 - (i) receive the Executive's report on the financial statements of the Society for the previous financial year, and the auditor's report, if any, on those statements,
 - (ii) adopt a budget for the next fiscal year,
 - (iii) receive any other reports of Executive activities and decisions since the previous annual General Meeting,
 - (iv) elect or appoint directors, and
 - (v) appoint an auditor, if any;
- (g) deal with new business, including any matters about which notice has been given to the members in the notice of meeting;
- (h) terminate the meeting.

Methods of voting

3.13 At a General Meeting, voting must be by a show of hands, an oral vote or another method that adequately discloses the intention of the voting members, except that if, before or after such a vote, 2 or more voting members request a secret ballot or a secret ballot is directed by the chair of the meeting, voting must be by a secret ballot. All online or hybrid meetings must also have an electronic secret ballot capacity.

Announcement of result

3.14 The chair of a General Meeting must announce the outcome of each vote and that outcome must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

Proxy voting not permitted

3.15 Voting by proxy is not permitted.

Ordinary and Special Resolutions

3.16 A matter to be decided at a General Meeting must be decided by ordinary resolution unless the matter is required by these Bylaws to be decided by special resolution or by another resolution having a higher voting threshold than the threshold for an ordinary resolution.

3.17 Amendments to the Constitution of the Society must be decided by special resolution requiring a two-thirds vote of members present and voting at a General Meeting. Amendments to the Bylaws of the Society must be decided by special

resolution requiring a two-thirds vote of members present and voting at a General Meeting.

Rules of Order

3.18 "Robert's Rules of Order" will be used for all General Meetings.

PART 4 – DIRECTORS

Number of directors on Executive

4.1 The Society must have no fewer than 3 directors.

Election or appointment of directors

4.2 At each Annual General Meeting, the voting members entitled to vote for the election or appointment of directors must elect or appoint directors to the Executive.

The Executive will issue a call for nominations thirty (30) days before a General Meeting or the Annual General Meeting when terms are up and positions are vacated. Nominations will also be accepted from the floor at the Annual General Meeting.

A member of the Executive not seeking re-election will oversee the elections. The election of all positions will be conducted by secret ballot by members in attendance at the Annual General meeting

Executive may fill casual vacancy on Executive

4.3 The Executive may, at any time, appoint a member as a director to fill a vacancy that arises on the Executive as a result of the resignation, death or incapacity of a director during the director's term of office.

Term of appointment of director filling casual vacancy

4.4 A director appointed by the Executive to fill a vacancy ceases to be a director at the next annual general meeting.

PART 5 – EXECUTIVE MEETINGS

Calling Executive meeting

5.1 An Executive meeting may be called by the president or by any 2 other directors.

Notice of Executive meeting

5.2 At least seven days' notice of an Executive meeting must be given unless all the directors agree to a shorter notice period.

Proceedings valid despite omission to give notice

5.3 The accidental omission to give notice of an Executive meeting to a director, or the non-receipt of a notice by a director, does not invalidate proceedings at the meeting.

Conduct of Executive meetings

5.4 The Executive may regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit.

Quorum at Executive meetings

5.5 The quorum for the transaction of business at an Executive meeting is a majority of the directors.

PART 6 – EXECUTIVE

Election or appointment to Executive positions

6.1 Directors must be elected or appointed to the following Executive positions, and a director, other than the president, may hold more than one position:

President, Vice-President, Secretary, Membership Secretary, Treasurer, three (3) Members-at-Large, two (2) student and youth representatives, and two (2) scholar-activist representatives. The Journal Editor and Conference Committee Chair will be voting ex-officio members of the Executive.

6.2 Directors who are elected or appointed to positions on the Executive in addition to the positions described in these Bylaws are elected or appointed as directors at large. Election or appointment to all positions will be for a two-year time, with the exception of Treasurer which will be for a three-year term.

6.3 Duties of Executive Members

(a) The president is the chair of the Executive and is responsible for co-ordinating the other directors in the execution of their duties.

(b) The vice-president is the vice-chair of the Executive and is responsible for carrying out the duties of the president if the president is unable to act.

(c) The secretary is responsible for doing, or making the necessary arrangements for, the following:

- (i) issuing notices of General Meetings and directors' meetings;
- (ii) taking minutes of General Meetings and directors' meetings;
- (iii) keeping the records of the Society in accordance with the Act;
- (iv) conducting the correspondence of the Executive.

(d) In the absence of the secretary from a meeting, the Executive must appoint another individual to act as secretary at the meeting.

(e) The treasurer is responsible for doing, or making the necessary arrangements for, the following:

- (i) receiving and banking monies collected from the members or other sources;
- (ii) keeping accounting records in respect of the Society's financial transactions;
- (iii) preparing the Society's financial statements;
- (iv) making the Society's filings respecting taxes;
- (v) filing the annual reports of the Society and any other required filings.

(f) The Membership Secretary shall maintain and update the membership list as well as develop strategies to retain, expand and diversify membership to stabilise and increase membership and donation revenues. The Membership Secretary will ensure compliance with all relevant privacy legislation and protection of members' data. To assist with this work, the Membership Secretary shall recommend some members in good standing to be appointed by the Executive to a membership committee, with that committee chaired by the Membership Secretary.

(g) Three (3) Members-at-Large who shall contribute to the Executive's deliberation and oversight and take up special tasks by mutual agreement with the rest of the Executive.

(h) Two (2) student or youth representatives who shall contribute to the Executive's deliberation and oversight and take up special tasks by mutual agreement with the rest of the Executive.

(i) Two (2) scholar/activist representatives who shall contribute to the Executive's deliberation and oversight and take up special tasks by mutual agreement with the rest of the Executive.

PART 7 – JOURNAL, CONGRESS AND HIVE

7.1 JOURNAL EDITOR AND EDITORIAL BOARD

(a) The Journal Editor and Editorial Board shall produce the Society's journal, *Socialist Studies / Études socialistes*.

(b) The Journal Editor will be appointed by the Executive for a term of three (3) years. Not less than six (6) months prior to a known vacancy, the Executive the Journal. The appointment of a new Editor or Editorial Team will be completed before March 31. Nothing precludes an Editor or Editorial Team from seeking successive appointments.

(c) The Executive will approve the Journal Editorial Board on the advice of the Journal Editor or Team. Nominations for the Editorial Board are open to members in good standing.

7.2 THE HIVE

(a) The Hive shall consist of members in good standing who are may be identified at the Annual Membership Meeting.

(b) Any Society member is eligible to be a member of the Hive.

(c) Members can be appointed to the Hive at any time by the Executive.

(d) The Hive will act as an advisory committee to the Executive and provide information about past practices while serving as a discussion forum to help in the Executive's operation of the Society.

(e) Normally, the Hive will communicate through e-mail or on-line video conferencing.

7.3 CONFERENCE COMMITTEE

(a) The Conference Committee shall organize the annual Society conference, including issuing a Call for Papers, putting together a Program, and organizing conference logistics.

(b) At each Annual Membership Meeting, after elections, the Executive will ask for volunteers to serve on the Conference Committee. A meeting will convene immediately following the Annual Membership meeting of those interested in serving on the Conference Committee. This meeting will be chaired by the

President of the Society and the purpose will be to form a Steering Committee and to elect the Conference Chair(s).

(c) If no one volunteers at the meeting, the Executive will form the committee after the close of Congress.

(d) Once formed, the Conference Committee is free to expand its membership by seeking additional volunteers.

(e) The Conference Committee will report to the Executive, and the Conference budget will be approved by the Executive.

PART 8 – REMUNERATION AND CONTRACTS

Remuneration of directors

8.1 The Society is not permitted to pay to a director remuneration for being a director, but the Society may pay remuneration to a director for services provided by the director to the Society in another capacity.

Signing authority

8.2 A contract or other record to be signed by the Society must be signed on behalf of the Society

(a) by the treasurer, together with the president, or

(b) if the president is unable to provide a signature, by the treasurer together with one other director, or

(c) if the treasurer and president are unable to provide signatures, by any 2 authorized signatories.